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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA

CHARLESTON DIVISION

ALISHA KINGERY,

Plaintiff,
V. CIVIL ACTION NO. 2:12cv-01353
QUICKEN LOANS, INC.,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Pending before the court is Quicken Loans, Inc.’s (“Quicken”) Motion to Set Asitle a
Objections to Magistrate Judge Decision to District Court [Docket 208]. Forehsons
discussed below, the coutenies the motion to set asid@YERRULES the objections, and
AFFIRMS the ruling of the Magistrate Judge.

l. Background

This case arises out of Quickeralleged violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act
(“FCRA"). Under the FCRA, if a mortgage lender uses a consumer’s cred# isctire process
of evaluating the consumer’s loan application, the lender must prawvidéce regarding its use
of that scordo the consumer “as soonraasonablyracticable.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(Q).

To establish a claim under the FCRA, the plaintiff must establish that there maa bee
violation and that the violation was either willful or neglige®¢e Dalton v. Capital Assiated
Indus., Inc, 257 F.3d 409, 415 (4th Cir. 2001). If the lender’'s violation is negligent, the

consumer may recover actual damages. 15 U.S.C. § 16810(a)(1). In the case otla willf
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violation, the consumer may recover actual damages, or statutory damageg framg $100 to
$1000 and “such amount of punitive damages as the court may dllvg]1681n(a).

In her Second Class Action Complaint, the plaintiff Alicia Kingery alleges that she
applied for a mortgage witQuickenin May 2010.(Second Am Class Action Compl. [Docket
23], T 22).In connection with that applicatioQuickenobtained and used Ms. Kingé&sycredit
scoreon May 3, 2010(Id. 11 2427). Accordingto Ms. Kingery, Quickenwaited untilMay 24,
2010, approximatelyhree weeks lateto provide her with the mandatory disclosuigg. | 29).
Pursuant to Rule 23, Ms. Kingery seeks to bring a class action on behalf of similaatedsi
individuals. (d. 1130-45).

On July 15, 2013, Ms. Kingery serv@diickenwith a Rule 30(b)(6) degition noticeon
atleast seventyopics. SeeNotice to Take Rule 30(b)(6) Dep. [Docket 86]). The deposition was
to take place on August 5, 201®. at 1). On July 25, 201Ruickenserved Ms. Kingery with
objections to the depositiorS€eCertificateof Service Filed byQuickenfor Objections to Pl.’s
Notice of Rule 30(b)(6) DedDocket 98]). The deposition was rescheduled multiple times, but
the parties finally agreed to conduct the deposition on September 5, 3@&32n{. Notice to
Take Rule 30(bX) Dep.[Docket 118]). ThisAmended Mtice indicated the corporate designee
was to testify on at least ninetiyree topics.%ee id).

On September 5, 201Quickenproduced Amy Bishop as its corporate desigibeeging
the deposibn, Ms. Bishop did notprovide substantive answers becausee did not have
sufficient knowledge and/dQuickeris counsel instructed her not to answer. As a result, Ms.
Kingery moved to compel the testimony of Quicken’s corporate desigdeeMot. to Compel

Rule 30(b)(6) Testimony [Docket 191]



On November 12, 2013, the Magistrate Judge granted Ms. Kingery’s motion to compel.
(SeeOrder [Docket 183]). After reviewing the transcript from the September 5, @ddsition
the Magistrate Judgeoncluded that Ms. Bishop was not sufficiently knowledgeable about
certain areas properly identified and described with reasonable partyciriahe Rule 30(b)(6)
notice” (Id. at 5). The Magistrate Judge ordef@dicken to‘designate one or more witnesses to
testify at a Rule 30(b)(6Jleposition”’and “to follow Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(c)(2) when objecting
during future Rule 30(b)(6) depositioh¢ld.). Quickenmoved for clarification of the order. In
his clarification order, the Magistrate Judsiaed thatQuicken“may assert its rights der Fed.
R. Civ. P. 30(c)(2during all Rule 30(b)(6) depositions in this cds@®rder [Docket 186], at 3
(emphasis addéqd

Ms. Kingery did not fleanamended notice identifying a new date for the deposition. Ms.
Kingery contends shesént repeated regsts that Quicken comply with the Court’s prior orders
by identifying a withess and offering mutually agreed dates for the depositiimih Opp’'n to
Mot. by Quicken to Limit Depand for Protective Order [Docket 189], at 1). Quicken counters
that it provided Ms. Kingery with several dates, but she did not serve a notice degjgihatin
deposition dateQuicken further alleges thdpursuant to Plaintiff's suggestion, [the parties]
decided to move the deposition to rRJ@nuary or until the Court resolve[d] the seven disputed
topics.” (Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Set Aside and Objections to Magistrate Judges Dated
Feb. 20, 2014 [Docket 2091 17).

On December 3, 2013, Quicken filed a motion to limit the deposition tapidsfor a

protective order. According to Quicken, the disputed topics were:



Topics No. 27, 33, 39, 45, 5The number of individuals for whom you failed

to prepare the notice required by 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(g) within 3 (or 7, 14, 21,

30) days of your receipt of those individual’'s dtestore.

Topics No. 89 and 90The number of other consumers with a status code of

“10” (or “100”) for whom the same number of days elapsed between your

receipt of their credit score and your preparation of their respective aedt s

notices under 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(qg).
(SeeMem. in Supp. of Mot. to Set Aside and Objections to Magistrate Judge’s Order Fxdite
20, 2014 [Docket 209ht 3). It appears the primagoal of the motion was to prevent Quicken’
corporate designee from providing informatioagarding the number of purported class
members- individuals for whom Quickemiad failed to provide timely credit score disclosures.
In its briefing, Quicken argued that because it had stipulated to numerosityurtiieer of
individuals in the purportealass was irrelevanand notdiscoverable at that stage the
litigation. In response, Ms. Kingery claimed that proof of a pattern and prattwaations was
relevant to establishing willfulness, whidhs. Kingery must prove in order to obtain statyto
damages.

After conducing a hearing and reviewing the partidwiefing, the Magistrate Judge
denied Quickeis motion. SeeOrder [Docket 200]). He found that the number of purported class
members was relevant ¢tass certification and establishingilfulness under the FCRASEe id.
at 4). In light of this relevance, the Magistrate Judge found it would not be unduly burdensome
for a corporate designee to testify to this informati@ee id.at 11).Finally, the Magistrate

Judge found that Quicken was in violation of his November 12, 20d&8r@irecting Quicken to

designate a witness testify at a Rule 30(b)(6) depositiotd.(at 9). On March 6, 2014, Quicken



filed the instant motion objecting to the Magistrate Judgelsruary 20, 201Order pusuant to
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 72(a).
Il. Legal Standard

When a magistrate judge hears and determines-a@lispasitive pretrial matter in a case,
a party may object to that determination within fourteen days after bewvedseith a copy of
the cecision. Fed. R. Civ. P. 72(a). Discovery motions aredispositive.Clark v. Milam 155
F.R.D. 546, 547 (S.DW. Va. 1994) (Haden, J.). The district judge in the case must consider
timely objections and “may modify or set aside any portion of a magistrage’'sutchon
dispositive ruling ‘where it has been shown that the magistrate judge’si®dearly erroneous
or contrary to law.”Berman v. Congressional Towers Ltd. P’sBigction ] 325 F. Supp. 2d
590, 592 (D. Md. 2004) (quoting 28 U.S.C. 8 636IIA)); see alsd~ed. R. Civ. P. 72(a).

A magistrate judge’s finding is “clearly erroneous” when “although theridence to
support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence isnelft the definite and firm conviction
that a mistake has been committe@lark, 155 F.R.D. at 547. On the other hand, a magistrate
judge’s ruling is “contrary to law” when it “fails to apply or misapplies rehi¢\statutes, case
law or rules of procedure Transamerica Life Ins. Co. v. Lincoln Nat'l Life Ins. C692 F.
Supp. 2d 1087, 1093 (N.D. lowa 2008). “This means that, for questions of law, there is no
practical difference between review under Rule 72(a)’s ‘contrary to law’ atérahd [a] de
novo standard.”Felman Prod., Inc. v. Indus. Risk Insurefdo. 3:09cv-0481, 2010 WL
2944777, at *3 (S.DW. Va. July 23, 2010) (Chambers, J.) (Quotfmwvershare, Inc. v. Syntel,

Inc., 597 F.3d 10, 15 (1st Cir. 2010)).



[I. Quicken’s Objections
A. Application of 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(g)

First, Quicken argues the Magistrate Judgeed in hisapplication of 15 U.S.C. §
1681g(g) because he relied on an unrelated provision of the FCRA and on a mischatiacteri
of the requirements of § 1681g(g), which is the basis of Ms. Kingery’s claimstefutreview
of the Magistrate Judge’February 20 Order reveals he mentioned these items only to provide
background and context. FIND no clear error or misapplication of the law and overrule
Quicken’s objectionsn these bases.

B. Violation of November 12, 2013 Order

Second, Quicken contends that it is not in violation of the Magistrate Judgesnber
12, 2013 Order. In that Order, the Magistrate Judge directed Quixkimsignate a witnessr a
Rule 30(b)(6) deposition after it “failed to appear” for the September 15, 2013 dapositi
Quicken believes it is in compliance with the November 12, Z0rtigér because the Magistrate
Judge instructed it toféllow Rule 30(d)(3) when objecting to the proprietary or scope of the
noticed topics, which includes filing a protective order under Rule 26(c).” Mem. in Sup@tof M
to Set Aside and Objections to Magistratelgkis Order Dated Feb. 20, 20[@ocket 209], at
16 (citing November 12 Ordgr)Allegedly, it complied with this instiction when it filed the
motion for protective order on December 3, 2048d now, Quicken is objecting toeth
Magistrate Judge’s ruling on the motion for protective orddraf 1617.)

At the outset, | am troubled by Quicken’s misrepresentation of the findingseby th
Magistrate Judge as justification for filing theotective order. In his November 12, 2013 Order,

the Magistrate JudgerderedQuickento “designateone or more witnesses to testify at a Rule



30(b)(6) deposition, held at a location amdd agreeable to the partiddefendant’s counsel is
ordered to follow Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(c)(2) when objecting during future Rule)(8D(b
depositions.” Qrder [Docket 183], ab). The Magistrate Judge only mentions Rule 30(d)(3) in
the context of discugsy the very limited circumstances when it is acceptable to instruct a party
not to answer a deposition question; i.e., in the context of discussing why it was impiroper f
Quicken to instruct its Rule 30(b)(6) witness not to answer in some circumstiliotesg in
the Magistrate Jud{e decision sppors Quicken’s interpretation that the belated filingaof
protective order somehow complied with the Magistrate Judge’s Novembed&g'O

Quicken’s protective order simply came too late in the g&meken did not even file a
protective order until well after the Magistrate Juddgéovember 12 OrdefWhen a corporation
objects to a notice of Rule 30(b)(6) deposition, the proper procedure is to file a motion for
protective order.Robinson v. Quicken Loans, Inblo. 3:12ev-00981, 2013 WL 1776100, at *3
(S.D. W. Va. Apr. 25, 2013)The Magistrate Judgaoted as much in his decisio(Order
[Docket 183], at % If Quicken had objections to the September 15, 2013 deposition, it should
have filed a motion fo a protective ordemell before the depositioninstead, it sent an
unprepared witness to the deposition, which is “tantamount to a failure to appear” under Rule
37(d)(1)(A)(1). Robinson 2013 WL 1776100, at *3it was not until Ms. Kingery moved to
compé and the Magistrate Judge ordered that Quicken designate a Rule 30(b)(6), witaess
Quicken presented to the Magistrate Judge any objection to the Rule 30(b)(6) topics.

In fact, Quicken first filed a motion for clarification of the NovemberQr2ler. By

Order enteredNovember 25, 2013he Magistrate Judge granted the motion for clarification

! At the hearing on the motion for protective ord@uicken’scounsel discussed his belief that by filing the motion
for protective order rather than objecting at the deposition, he waaid the inevitabledisagreemerthat would
occur at the depositiofFeb. 6Hearing Transcript [Docke2082], at49).
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the very narrowssueof whetherQuicken could assert its rights under Rule 30(c)(2) during all
Rule 30(b)(6) depositionsa this casgnot just “future” depositions). The Magistrate Judge found
in the affirmative (Order [Docket 186], at 3).

Rather than complwith the Magistrate Judge’November 12, 2013 Order, Quick&en
filed the atissuemotion for protective ordesn December 3, 2013, which was deni&dhile the
Magistrate Judge addressed the substantive aspects of Quicken’s objextibasnotice of
deposition he clearly stated that Quicken “is not in compliance with thiar&o Order [of
November 12.]" Order[Docket 200], at 9).

In summary Quicken failed to move for a protective order in a timely manner. Moreover,
it never appealed the November 12 Ofdéat it designate a Rule 30(b)(6) deponent and
cooperate in theschedulig of that deposition. Instead, Quicken’s actions reflect obsteictiv
behavior at nearly every turn and reflect utter disregard for thggsidate Judge’s explicit order
Accordingly, IFIND no clear error or misapplication of the lavith respect to the Magistrate
Judge’s finding that Quicken was not in compliance with the November 12 Order andeoverrul
Quicken’s objections on this basisfurther ORDER that Quicken produce its Rule 30(b)(6)
witnesges)within three daydrom the entry of this Memorandum Opinion and Ordeatime
and placeof the plaintiff'schoosing.

C. Relevance of the Number of Putative Class Members

In its briefing, Quicken states that it has “stipulated to numerosity based atatise
definition pled in Plaintiff's Second Amended ComplainMgm. in Supp. of Mot. to Set Aside

and Objections to Magistrate Judge’s Order Dated Feb. 20, 2014 [Docket 209], at 7)eBecaus

2| further note that Quicken has not sought a stay of the February 20, 2014 Orde
8



has stipulated to numerosity, Quicken argues that the number of people windreickive their
credit score disclosure within 3, 7, 14, 21, and 30 days is now irreldV@espite this
stipulation, the Magistrate Judge found the number of people who fall into these gobeatis
relevant to whether Quicken committed the violations willfule€Order [Docket 200], at 4).
He also found this evidence relevant to class certification, particularlydiegathe issues of
typicality and commonality(See id.at 47). Quicken states that the Magistrate Judge ignored
Supreme Court precedent concerning the definition ofiftinless” and misplaced his reliance
on Dalton v. Capital Associatehdus., Inc, 257 F.3d 409 (4th Cir. 2001) aseutter v. Equifax
Info. Servs., LLC498 F. App’x 260 (4th Cir. 2012).

| have considered the arguments of counselFANdD the Magistrate Judge'@nclusion
that this evidence was relevant to typicality was not clearly erroneous eargotd law. In
reaching his conclusions, the Magistrate Judge appropriately reliedSaptter v. Equifax Info
Servs., LLC498 F. App’x 260 (4th Cir. 2012). I8outer, the plaintiff filed a lawsuit against
Equifax for failing to follow adequate procedungken it incorrectly reported @vil judgment,
which had been vacated by the Richmond General District Court, on her coedireort.d.
at 262.The district court ultimately certified a class including individuals whose credies
report incorrectly included a civil judgment issued in a Virginia General Distaatt@r Circuit
Court. Id. at 263. The Fourth Circuit rersed the district coud’ class certification in part

because the plaintiff could not establish the typicality requirement of Ruld.23.264-65.

% Quicken has offered to stipulate that the number of people who wouldtéathzse subcategories are numerous.
However, Quicken is not admitting that it was legally iegflito provide disclosures to these individuals. (Feb. 6
Hearing Transcript [Docket 268, at 10, 13).



The court observedhat in order to establish typicality, the plaintiff's “interest in
prosecuting [her] own case must simultaneously tend to advance the interestsettiieckass
members.’ld. at 264. (quotations omitted). To make this determination, a court mustv{éyv
“the elements dthe plaintiff’'s] prima facie case . . . and the fact[s] supporting those elements”
and determine what extent “those facts would also prove the claims of the absent class
members.’ld. at 265 (quotations and citations omitted).

After reviewing the plaintiff's claim in light of the other class memba&ircumstances,
the Fourth Circuit concluded that the plainsffclaim was atypical because Equifax used
different methods of collecting general district court records compared tmatsods of
collecting circuit court recordsld. at 265 Thus, “proof that Equifax’s behavior was
unreasonabléecause of the manner in which LexisNexis [on behalf of Equifax] collected data
from the Richmond General District Court[the plaintiff's] case does not ‘advanctie claim
of a class member whose judgment was from a circuit court in 20d0.To make this
determination, the Fourth Circuit needed to look noy althe facts of the plaintif’claim, but
also to the compang’conduct with respect to other putative class menibers.

In the instant case, Quicken has stipulated to numerosity based dasthel&nition in
the Second Amended Class Actioarfiplaint. That class definition states as follows:

All natural persons residing in the United States who were the subject of at
least one consumer credit score obtained and used by Quicken between May 1,
2010 through May 1, 2012 in connection with its evaluation of an application

initiated or sought by such natural person for a consumer mortgage loan
secured by 1 to 4 units of residential propeayd to whom the credit score

* Quicken contends th&outterwas based only on the plaintiff's recovery of statutory damages anechieement
of willfulness.(Mem. in Supp. oMot. to Set Aside and Objections to Magistrate Judge’s Order Dated F&®120,
[Docket 209], at 1412). The court’s holding was broader in that it also held that certificatias improper based on
typicality due to differing procedures used by theeddfintsSoutter v. Equifax Inf&servs., LLC498 F. Appk

260, 265(4th Cir. 2012).
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disclosure notice was not provided to that person within 3 businessaftays
Quicken obtained the credit score.

Excluded from the class definition are any employees, officers, directors of
Quicken, and any legal representatives, heirs, successors, and assignees of
Quicken,and aty judge assigned to hear this action.
(Second Am. Class Action Compl. [Docket 23], at § 30 (emphasis added)).
The deposition topics that remain at issue ancciee above- Topic Nos. 27, 3339,
45, 51, 89and 90- are relevant to typicality under Rule 23. For example, the class definition
stipulated by the partigacludes individuals to whom the credit score disclosure notice was not
provided within 3 business days after Quicken obtained the credit Jdwaleposition topics
seek information about individuals for whom Quicken failed to prepare the noticer\Bitfar
7,14, 21, 30) days of your receipt of those individual’s credit score.” (Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to
Set Aside and Objections to Magistrdiedge’s Order Dated Feb. 20, 2014 [Docket 209], at 3).
Without information as to how many iivitluals fall into each of these categori®és. Kingery
may not provethat the facts of her claim- receiving hercredit score within threeveeks— is
typical of the class, as was the cas&autter Accordingly, IFIND that the Magistrate Judge’
ruling was notlearly erroneous or contrary e andoverrule Quicken’s objections.
IV.  Conclusion
Based on the above, OVERRULE the objections of Quickemnd AFFIRM the
decisbn of the Magistrate Judge.further ORDER that Quicken produce its Rule 30(b)(6)

witness(es) withirthree daydrom the efry of this Memorandum Opinion ar@rder at a time

and place of the plaintiff's choosing.
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The courtDIRECTS the Clerk to send a copy of this Order to counsel of record and any
unrepresented party.

ENTER: March 14, 2014

JOSEPH K- GOODWIN  /
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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